1992

# Liberty Mutual Insurance v. Jaren Baxter, Joanne Baxter, Mary Ellen Boulter, Daryl Crape and John Does : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to §78-2-2(j), U.C.A.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was summary judgment in favor of Liberty Mutual warranted under the facts in this case?
2. Did Baxters and Boulter state a cause of action against Liberty Mutual in their counterclaim which could be the matter of summary judgment proceedings?
3. Does the insured have a first party cause of action against their own carrier, who had written uninsured motorist, for failure to bargain in good faith?

4. Do the Baxters and Boulter have a cause of action entitling them to have the issue of punitive damages decided by the trier of facts?

#### STANDARD OF APPELLANT REVIEW

The trial court granted Liberty Mutual summary judgment as a matter of law on the issue of its breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing. Granting summary judgment on this issue rendered the court's consideration of the other issues moot. Because the trial court granted summary judgment as a matter of law, the appellate court need not give deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and should review the issue de novo. In specifying the standard of review for summary judgment, the court in Pixton v. State Farm, stated: "Because summary judgment is not granted as a matter of fact, but rather as a matter of law, the trial court's legal conclusions are to be reviewed for correctness." 809 P.2d at 748.

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND ADMINISTRATIVE RULES

Utah Code Ann., §31A-23-219

Utah Code Ann., §31A-26-303(4)

Utah Code Ann., §31A-26-303(5)

Utah Code Ann., §78-18-1(1)(a)

Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Rule, R.540-89

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jaren and Joanne Baxter ("Baxter") and Mary Ellen

Boulter ("Boulter") defendants and counterclaimants below appeal a summary judgment order granted in favor of Liberty Mutual Insurance Group ("Liberty Mutual"), the plaintiff below. Liberty Mutual sought declaratory relief to determine that one Daryl Crape, an alleged tortfeasor was an insured motorist and to set aside a default judgment that was granted to Baxters and Boulter due to an accident involving Crape as an uninsured motorist. The trial court ruled that the default judgment was binding on Liberty Mutual for purposes of an uninsured motorist provision in it's insurance contract with Baxters and Boulter. Baxters and Boulter in the civil action being the subject of this appeal filed a counterclaim against Liberty Mutual for a breach of its duty to act in good faith and to deal fairly. Liberty Mutual finally paid on the uninsured motorist claim, leaving the issue of the counterclaim in which Liberty Mutual was granted summary judgment. It is this summary judgment that is the subject of this appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Joanne Baxter as the driver of a vehicle insured by Liberty Mutual and Baxter's mother, Mary Ellen Boulter, who was a passenger, were involved in an automobile accident on April 28, 1989. (R. at 334)

2. Daryl Crape was the driver of the vehicle which collided with Baxter's vehicle. (R. at 334)



3. Jaren Baxter, husband of Joanne Baxter, contacted Liberty Mutual and informed it of the accident on April 28, 1989, (R. at 239) the same day of the accident.

4. After not receiving any information from either Mr. Crape nor Liberty Mutual, Robert M. McRae, counsel for Baxters and Boulter, informed Liberty Mutual, in writing, on July 12, 1989, that a possible uninsured motorist claim existed. (R. at 340)

5. On August 24, 1989, Liberty Mutual sent a letter to McRae stating it would wait for evidence regarding the uninsured motorist situation from McRae's office. (R. at 346)

6. After hearing nothing more from Liberty Mutual, a default judgment was obtained against Crape on October 16, 1989. (R. at 354)

7. On October 30, 1989, McRae sent Liberty Mutual notice of default judgment obtained against Crape and inquired as to whether Liberty Mutual was going to pay on the claim. (R. at 348)

8. After no further contact, on January 4, 1990, Liberty Mutual filed a Declaratory Complaint seeking a declaration as to whether the default judgment against Crape was binding for purposes of the uninsured motorist claim and to also set aside the default judgment. (R. at 02-08)

9. On July 5, 1990, Baxters and Boulter amended their answer and added a counterclaim against Liberty Mutual wherein it argue that Liberty Mutual by its conduct did breach its duty of good faith and fair dealing. (R. at 365-67)

10. Several motions were filed by Liberty Mutual's counsel in this case attempting to obtain partial summary judgment which were denied. (R. at 193, 407)

11. A final order in the Crape case denying said motions was entered on August 13, 1991, denying a motion filed by Liberty Mutual's counsel to set aside the default judgment against Crape. (R. at 407)

12. Liberty Mutual tendered payment of \$20,000.00 to Baxters and \$8,500.00 to Boulter, plus interest, to settle the Crape case, which tender was accepted. (R. at 310)

13. Liberty Mutual filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on November 15, 1991, seeking to have the bad faith claim dismissed. (R. at 422)

14. Summary Judgment was granted in favor of Liberty Mutual on December 23, 1991. (R. at 460)

15. It is this grant of summary judgment in favor of Liberty Mutual that is the subject of this appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In granting summary judgment in favor of Liberty Mutual, the trial court relied on the Memorandum in Support of

Summary Judgment provided by Liberty Mutual. The authorities relied on however, are easily distinguishable from this case. The facts in this cases give rise to an action based on Liberty Mutual's breach of its duty to act in good faith and to deal fairly with its insureds, Baxters and Boulter. This breach caused Baxters and Boulter to sustain substantial damages. This Court should remand the case to the district court for a trial on the merits.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

#### SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF LIBERTY MUTUAL WAS NOT WARRANTED UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

In Pixton v. State Farm, 809 P.2d 746, 48 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) the Utah Court of Appeals stated that summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Citing Ehlers & Ehlers Architects v. Carbon County, 805 P.2d 789, 791 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); Shire Dev. v. Frontier Inv., 799 P.2d 221, 222-23 [Utah Ct. App. 1990]). The facts and inferences are to be viewed in a light most favorable to the losing party and the judgment is to be affirmed only where there is no genuine dispute as to a material fact or where, viewing the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a

matter of law. Id. Because summary judgment is not granted as a matter of fact, but rather as matter of law, the trial court's legal conclusions are to be reviewed for correctness. Id. In this case the District Court below, relying on Liberty Mutual's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, found that Utah case law holds that summary judgment is appropriate in insurance cases where there is an issue of bad faith, even though that issue is disputed. (R. at 312-13, 459-60). Under the facts of this case, however, summary judgment in favor of Liberty Mutual was not appropriate and none of the authority relied on in the court below so holds.

The authority relied upon by the court below on this issue consists primarily of three Utah appellate cases. The first case is Pixton v. State Farm, supra (R. at 312). Pixton involved a third-party claim against an insured's insurer based on a breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. 809 P.2d at 747. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the insurer, notwithstanding the existence of an affidavit of an expert stating that the insurer had breached its duties of good faith and fair dealing, thereby creating a disputed issue. Id. The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that there is no duty of good faith and fair dealing running from an insurer to a third-party where there is no privity of contract. Id. at 751. The court stated that the

expert witness' affidavit was simply irrelevant as there was no duty owed by the insurer.

While Pixton is undisputedly the law in Utah as to third-party bad faith claims, the present case involves first-party claimants. There is direct privity of contract between Liberty Mutual and its insureds, Baxters and Boulter. This first-party claimant action based on a breach of the duty of an insurer to deal fairly and act in good faith with its insured was recognized in Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 701 P.2d 795 (Utah 1985). Beck involved an insured who sought damages against his insurer as a first-party claimant due to the insurer's breach of its duty of good faith and fair dealing. Id. at 796,97. Beck will be discussed in greater detail in Point II.

The court below also relied on Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler, 768 P.2d 950 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). (R. at 312) Amica involved a claimant who alleged bad faith against his insurance company based on the insurance company assisting a county attorney to prosecute the claimant for insurance fraud. Id. at 958. Similarly, the court below further relied on Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co., 745 P.2d 838 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). (R. at 312) Callioux also involved allegations of insurance fraud against its insured. Id. at 839. The alleged bad faith consisted of the insurer delaying payment during criminal proceedings for insurance fraud against the

claimant. Id. at 839. It is important to note that immediately following the proceedings, the insured tendered payment to the exonerated claimant. Id. The Court of Appeals held in both cases that summary judgment was appropriate.

The facts of this case are much different than any of the cases relied on by the District Court below. Point II discusses how, even taking Liberty Mutual's version of the facts, its conduct constitutes a clear breach of its duty of good faith and fair dealing that it owed to its insureds, Baxters and Boulter.

#### POINT II

LIBERTY MUTUAL'S CONDUCT CONSTITUTED A BREACH OF ITS DUTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING THEREBY GIVING BAXTERS AND BOULTER A CAUSE OF ACTION.

Baxters' and Boulter's counterclaim alleged that Liberty Mutual breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing in one or more of the following respects:

- a) Failure to timely and diligently investigate its liability exposure to its insured;
- b) . . .
- c) Failure to act in good faith in performing its implied contractual obligation to a first-party insurance contract claim;
- d) . . .

(R. at 42-45)

It is useful to examine this standard of good faith and fair dealing that was recognized in Beck. Justice Zimmerman, speaking for the Court, stated:

the implied obligation of good faith performance contemplates, at the very least, that the insurer will diligently investigate the facts to enable it to determine whether a claim is valid, will fairly evaluate the claim, and will thereafter act promptly and reasonably in rejecting or settling the claim. The duty of good faith also requires the insurer to deal with laymen as laymen and not as experts in the subtleties of law and underwriting and to refrain from actions that will injure the insured's ability to obtain the benefits of the contract. These performances are the essence of what the insured has bargained and paid for, and the insurer has the obligation to perform them. When an insurer has breached this duty, it is liable for damages suffered in consequence of that breach.

701 P.2d at 801. (Citations omitted)

To further define this standard of good faith and fair dealing, we look to Utah Code Ann. §31A-26-303(4). This section empowers the Insurance Commissioner to define by rule, acts or general business practices which are unfair claim settlement practices. The Commissioner, pursuant to this statute, has promulgated Rule R540-89 entitled Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Rule. The pertinent sections of this rule are:

R540-89-10. FAILURE TO ACKNOWLEDGE PERTINENT COMMUNICATIONS. A. Every insurer, upon receiving notification of a claim shall, within 15 days, acknowledge the receipt of such notice unless payment is made within such period of time, . . .

R540-89-11. STANDARD FOR PROMPT INVESTIGATION OF CLAIMS. Every insurer shall complete investigation of a claim within 45 days after notification of claim,. .

R540-89-12. MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR PROMPT, FAIR AND EQUITABLE SETTLEMENTS APPLICABLE TO ALL INSUREDS.

B. Within 30 days after receipt by the insurer of properly executed notice of loss, the insurer shall complete its investigation of the claim and the first party claimant shall be advised of the acceptance or denial of the claim by the insurer unless the investigation cannot be completed within 30 days the insurer shall so communicate to the claimant and shall continue to communicate every 30 days until the claim is either paid or denied.

Id.

The facts in this case are undisputed. Even looking to Liberty Mutual's version of the facts, Baxters and Boulter can show that Liberty Mutual clearly breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing with them. To examine Liberty Mutual's version of the facts, we turn to its Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment. Again it is important to note that these are the same facts relied on by the District Court in its Order granting Summary Judgment. (R. at 459-60)

The facts state that on July 12, 1989, counsel for Baxters provided Liberty Mutual with a copy of the Summons, Complaint and Return of Service in the lawsuit initiated against Crape by Baxters and Boulter. Baxters and Boulter however claim that notice was given to Liberty Mutual on the same day as the accident. (R. at 239) Also included in this correspondence was a letter from counsel which stated that



there was evidence that Crape was uninsured. On August 24, 1989, some 43 days later, Liberty Mutual wrote to counsel for Baxters and Boulter acknowledging the claim and stating that a file would be opened. In this letter Liberty Mutual stated that it would await evidence regarding the uninsured motorist claim from Baxters' and Boulter's counsel. (Addendum E)

After hearing nothing more from Liberty Mutual, counsel for Baxters and Boulter sent a letter to Liberty Mutual that was received on October 30, 1989. (Addendum F) The letter informed Liberty Mutual that a default judgment had been entered against Crape. The letter also asked whether Liberty Mutual was going to pay on the uninsured motor claim. About 67 days later, on January 4, 1990, and without any further contact with Baxters, Boulter, or their counsel, Liberty Mutual filed this complaint seeking a declaration as to whether the default judgment was binding for the purposes of the uninsured motorist coverage and whether or not Crape was insured.

On or about March 21, 1990, Baxters and Boulter certified the matter as being ready for trial. Liberty Mutual objected and the Court agreed the matter was not ready for trial. On or About July 5, 1990, Baxters and Boulter added a counterclaim against Liberty Mutual for breaching its duty of good faith and fair dealing with its insureds. On December

28, 1990, Liberty Mutual filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment seeking to have the default judgment held to not be binding upon it and to set it aside. This motion was denied on August 13, 1991. Final judgment was also entered on that date. (R. at 407)

On October 28, 1991, Liberty Mutual filed another summary judgment motion seeking to have the bad faith claim dismissed. (R. at 260) Liberty Mutual then tendered payment of the uninsured motorist policy limits to Baxter, and paid Boulter, the judgment amount of \$8,500.00 plus interest, after more than two and one-half years of delay. (R. at 263) (R. at 301-11)

It is the granting of Liberty Mutual's Motion for Summary Judgment on the bad faith claim that is the subject of this appeal.

Liberty Mutual has breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing to its insureds many times throughout the course of the claim maintained by Baxters and Boulter. The first instance of this breach was the 43 days it took Liberty Mutual to acknowledge the receipt of the claim. This was nearly three times as long as the 15 day standard set forth in the insurance rules. Liberty Mutual's next effort to respond to the claim was when it filed a declaratory complaint, 67 days after Baxters' and Boulter's counsel had notified Liberty Mutual regarding the default proceedings and renewing the claim. Although a declaratory complaint was filed 67 days

after contact by Baxters' and Boulter's counsel, over 130 days had lapsed without Liberty Mutual making any attempt to investigate or resolve the matter. Again this is not taking into account that initial notification of the claim was made on the day of the accident.

Liberty Mutual breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing in several other respects as well. It breached its duty by not meeting the 45 day standard to complete its investigation of the claim when it was first made. In fact, Liberty Mutual did not make any attempt to investigate the claim. Further Liberty Mutual breached the 30 day contact standard, as there was only a single instance where it corresponded with its insureds between it receiving notification of the claim on the accident date of April 28, 1989, a letter to Boulter's counsel wanting evidence of Crape's uninsured status dated August 12, 1989 (Addendum F) and the filing of the Declaratory Complaint in January of 1990. There was a total lack of promptness and diligence in the way Liberty Mutual handled this claim. Liberty Mutual having not make any attempt to investigate the claim, it did not provide any assistance to do so.

Liberty Mutual argued in its Motion for Summary Judgment that the insurance rules specifying various time limits within which insurance companies have to act do not create a cause of action for private parties. (R.318) This is true. The statute authorizing these rules states: "This

section does not create any private cause of action." Utah Code Ann. §31A-26-303(5), Baxters and Boulter, however, do not base their counterclaim on these rules. Rather they base their cause of action on the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing that was recognized in Beck. The insurance rules merely reflect standards of and help define the insurer's duty of good faith and fair dealing. As Section R540-89-12 of the Rule states, the purpose of the Rule is to "establish standards of equity and good faith to guide licensees [insurance companies] in the settlement of claims." Id.

Liberty Mutual also argued that its filing of a Declaratory Complaint did not constitute bad faith. (R.at 32) It argued that it has the right to adjudicate its rights and obligations in this situation. While Baxters and Boulter believe the litigation initiated by Liberty Mutual to be a dilatory tactic, they agree that an insurer has the right to delay payment if there is a fairly debatable issue. The thrust, however, of Baxters' and Boulter's argument is that Liberty Mutual's breach of its duty of good faith began from its conduct prior to the filing of the Declaratory Complaint. The failure to timely acknowledge, investigate, and correspond to the claim are what give substance to Baxters' and Boulter's cause of action. There was no fairly debatable issue during this time. Even if there was, Liberty Mutual was obligated

under its duty to act in good faith to notify Baxters and Boulter of this and to correspond regularly, both of which never took place. Liberty Mutual at all times prior to paying its uninsured policy liability to Baxters and Boulter had the right to settle with them at its insureds, take an assignment of their subrogation rights and pursue Crape and/or his liability carrier for reimbursement. Counterclaimants had no right to preclude Liberty Mutual from this contractual or common law right.

### POINT III

BAXTERS AND BOULTER ARE ENTITLED TO DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF LIBERTY MUTUAL'S CONDUCT

A. Baxters And Boulter Are Entitled to Damages Suffered As A Consequence Of Liberty Mutual's Breach of Its Duty Of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

The Beck court held that there is no reason to limit damages recoverable for breach of a duty to investigate, bargain and settle claims in good faith to the amount specified in the insurance policy. 701 P.2d at 801. The court further stated that these damages include both general and consequential damages. Id. Among several classes of damages including attorney's fees (Collier v. Heinz, 182 Utah Adv. Rep. 53, Court of Appeals, 1992) are mental anguish and economic hardship. Beck at 802,03. (Citations omitted). This broad range of damages available to an insured who has

suffered an insurer's breach of its duty of good faith was also confirmed in Crookston v. Fire Exchange, 164 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, 10 (Utah 1991). In this case Baxters and Boulter have incurred substantial attorney fees in pursuing their claim. They have also claimed damages including but not limited to pain and suffering, mental anguish, economic hardship, psychological damage, emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life, all due to Liberty Mutual's breach of its duty of good faith and fair dealing. Baxters and Boulter have a right to be compensated for the damages resulting from this breach.

B. There Is Sufficient Evidence to Have The Issue of Punitive Damages Decided By The Trier Of Fact.

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