1992

Liberty Mutual Insurance v. Jaren Baxter, Joanne Baxter, Mary Ellen Boulter, Daryl Crape and John Does : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

In the context of a claim for uninsured motorist benefits, it is well recognized that the insured, not the insurer, must come forward with reasonable evidence that the tortfeasor was in fact uninsured. By their own admission, the insureds provided no evidence that Daryl Crape was uninsured. Thus, a condition precedent to coverage had not been met. In spite of that, Liberty Mutual timely responded to the insureds' counsel's indication that a possible uninsured motorist claim existed, requested additional information in a polite and appropriate manner, and continued to pay to its insureds the benefits that were owed pursuant to the policy.

In contrast, the insureds, through counsel, never actually made a claim, failed to provide their insurer with the requested information, filed suit against the tortfeasor without obtaining the consent of the insurer as was required by the policy, obtained a default judgment without first notifying the insurer that a default hearing was scheduled, and then simply supplied a copy of the Default Judgment to the insurer asking the insurer to pay the Judgment. Under the circumstances, rather

than constituting a breach of the duty of good faith, Liberty Mutual's conduct was exemplary and in sharp contrast to the obvious tactics of the insureds. Shortly thereafter, when faced with numerous questions regarding whether the tortfeasor was insured and whether the Default Judgment was binding, Liberty Mutual filed an action for declaratory relief seeking to adjudicate the rights and responsibilities of all parties. That litigation was diligently pursued by both sides until the issues were resolved. When Liberty Mutual learned that Mr. Crape was uninsured and that the trial court considered the Judgment binding, it satisfied the Judgment with interest. Such conduct does not, as a matter of law, constitute a breach of the insurer's duty of good faith in the "first party" context.

Additionally, it is clear from the record that the insureds suffered no compensable damages by reason of Liberty Mutual's conduct.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT AS A MATTER OF LAW LIBERTY MUTUAL DID NOT BREACH ITS DUTY OF GOOD FAITH

Although the insureds' claim has never been set forth in detail, it seems that the claim is based on Liberty Mutual's alleged delay when it initially responded to the insureds and again when responding to the presentation of the Default Judgment.⁵ Therefore, this section of this brief addresses the

⁵ In their brief at page 15 the insureds state that "The thrust, however, of Baxter and Boulter's argument is that Liberty Mutual's breach of its duty of good faith began from its conduct prior to the filing of the declaratory complaint. The failure to timely acknowledge, investigate and correspond to the claim are what gives substance to Baxter and Boulter's cause of action."

Assuming, however, that the insureds now also claim that Liberty Mutual's pursuit of the action for declaratory relief was also bad faith, Liberty Mutual asserts that in Utah, as long as there is a fairly debatable reason in support of the action for declaratory relief, then the bringing of such an action cannot support a claim of bad faith. See, *Amica Mutual Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 958 (Utah App. 1989); *Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 842 (Utah App. 1987); *Western Casualty & Surety Co. v. Marchant*, 715 P.2d 423, 427 (Utah 1980); *Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Call*, 712 P.2d 231, 237 (Utah 1985).

The "fairly debatable" reasons that supported Liberty Mutual's filing of the Complaint for declaratory relief are adequately set forth in the memorandum filed by Liberty mutual in support of its motion for partial summary judgment before the trial court in this action and its motion to set aside the default judgment in the case initiated by the insureds against Daryl Crape. (R. 00118-156, Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dated December 28, 1990; R. 00391-00408, Liberty Mutual's Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment.) Furthermore, when the "fairly debatable" reasons for bringing the action were resolved, Liberty Mutual paid the

law applicable to an insurer's obligations when faced with a claim similar to that presented in this case and addresses the pertinent facts in light of the insurer's legal obligations.⁶

A. Liberty Mutual Responded Fairly and Promptly to the Insureds.

Even the most cursory examination of the insureds' counsel's letter of July 12, 1989 which was received by Liberty Mutual on August 8, 1989 reveals that no real claim was being made. The letter merely advised the insurer that the insureds had filed suit against the tortfeasor and that maybe the tortfeasor was uninsured. The word claim is never used. No demand for payment is set forth. All that is asked for is that the insurer undertake an investigation. (R. 00144.) As is clear from Liberty Mutual's response 16 days later, an investigation was undertaken, a file was set up, and additional information was requested. Thus, the insurer did exactly what the insureds requested.

insureds' claim, plus interest and court costs. Lastly, it should be noted that the insureds' Counterclaim did not assert a breach of the duty of good faith based upon the filing of the Complaint for declaratory relief. (R. 00042-00045.)

⁶ The insureds' claim is a so called "first party" bad faith claim. See, *Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 701 P.2d 795, 801 (Utah 1985).

Even assuming that the July 12, 1989 letter is construed to be a claim for uninsured motorist coverage benefits, Liberty Mutual had every right to respond requesting additional information. First, the insureds had not met the Utah No-Fault Act threshold for bringing an action for general damages and second, when making an uninsured motorist claim, the burden is on the insured to come forward with reasonable evidence that the tortfeasor is in fact uninsured. Courts from across the nation have so held.

For example, in *Griffith v. Farm and City Ins. Co.*, 324 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 1982) the court held:

It is generally recognized that in order for an insured to recover under uninsured motorist coverage, the insured bears the burden of proving the uninsured status of the other motorist or vehicle. (Numerous citations omitted.)

Id. at 329-330. Again in *LaFeve v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.*, 527 F.Supp. 492 (Dist. of Alabama 1981) the court held:

It is clear that a party making a claim for uninsured motorist coverage must prove that the vehicle which injured him was in fact uninsured. (Citations omitted.)

Id. at 495. See also, *Abraham v. Great American Ins. Co.*, 21 Ohio Misc. 170, 256 N.E.2d 265, 267 (Ohio 1972); *Macaluso v. Grain Dealers Mut. Ins. Co.*, 188 S.2d 178, 180 (La. App. 1966); 26 A.L.R. 3d 883, 892, *Insurance--"Uninsured" Motorist*, § 4.

In this case, the insureds presented no evidence, reasonable or otherwise, that Mr. Crape was in fact uninsured. In light of that, Liberty Mutual was under no obligation to do more than it did. A file was set up, additional information was requested, and the insureds, through counsel, were advised that Liberty Mutual stood ready to honor the claim if and when reasonable evidence of the other driver's uninsured status was provided.⁷ (R. 00149-150.) Therefore, assuming that the letter received by Liberty Mutual on August 8, 1989 was a "claim" for uninsured motorist coverage, Liberty Mutual responded in a fashion entirely consistent with its rights under the law. All that the insureds had to do was to provide some evidence, any evidence, that in fact Mr. Crape was uninsured and then submit a claim for specific damages. As is set forth in Liberty Mutual's August 24, 1989 responsive letter (R. 00149-00150.), Liberty Mutual would have honored the claim. Instead, without further notification to Liberty Mutual, the insured took a default judgment against Mr. Crape and then expected the insurer to automatically, and without further questions, satisfy that judgment, when evidence that Mr. Crape was uninsured still had

⁷ Liberty also questioned whether the Insureds were legally untitled to make a claim against Crape due to Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309.

not been provided. The condition precedent to coverage, i.e., the existence of an uninsured motorist, had not been established. The coverage was never implicated, and Liberty Mutual had no duty to do anything other than what is reflected in its August 24, 1989 letter. (R. 00149-00150.) See, cases cited at page 20, *supra*.

Later, after obtaining the Default Judgment, once again it is questionable whether a claim was even presented. The insureds' counsel merely requested that the insurer: "Advise as to what your attitude is going to be about paying the same." (R. 00156.) Assuming, however, that the insureds' counsel's letter is construed as a claim for uninsured motorist benefits, once again the insureds failed to provide any reasonable evidence that Mr. Crape was uninsured.

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by Judge Rokich contained no reference to Mr. Crape being uninsured. (R. 00152-00154.) No additional evidence was provided with the letter. (R. 00156.) Furthermore, Liberty Mutual's policy clearly and unequivocally stated that in order for any judgment obtained by the insured against an uninsured motorist to be binding upon Liberty Mutual, the insured must first obtain the written consent of Liberty Mutual. (R. 00142, which is a photocopy of the relevant page

of Liberty Mutual's policy.) No such consent was obtained.

Therefore, once again Liberty Mutual was under no obligation to take immediate action and had a lawful and fairly debateable good faith reason for its conduct. No more is required. See, *Callioux v. Progressive Ins. Co.*, 745 P.2d 838, 842 (Utah App. 1987) (held: "Where factual issues exist regarding the claim's validity, an insurer's refusal to pay the claim does not constitute bad faith even where the factual issues are ultimately resolved in favor of the insured." Summary Judgment in favor of the insurer upheld.).

The Utah Court of Appeals' position is **consistent** with other jurisdictions. In *Phillips v. State Farm*, 437 F.2d 365, 368-370 (5th Cir. 1971) the court held that the: "Insurer did not commit bad faith by refusing to satisfy a judgment obtained by the insured and submit it under uninsured motorist coverage where the insurer contested the validity of judgment." Summary Judgment in favor of the insurer was affirmed.). *Id.* Again in *Myrttil v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 510 F.Supp. 1198, 1203-04 (E.D. of Pa. 1981) the court held that even where the insurer loses an action for declaratory relief, if a reasonable argument was presented, then the insurer did not commit bad faith." Summary judgment in favor of the insurer was affirmed. *Id.*

It should be noted that throughout this entire process the insured was represented by competent counsel and was not at a disadvantage regarding the relative expertise of the parties.

Faced with the insureds' default judgment on one hand and the many available defenses to that judgment on the other, Liberty referred the matter to counsel on December 27, 1989 (60 days after the receipt of the Default Judgment) and on January 4, 1990 the Complaint for Declaratory Relief was filed. (R. 00295-00296, Affidavit of counsel for Liberty Mutual, Michael P. Zaccheo.)

Certainly, under *Beck v. Farmers Ins. Exchange*, 701 P.2d 795, 801 (Utah 1985) in an uninsured motorist context, both the insurer and the insured have a duty to deal with each other in good faith and from the insurer's perspective that duty includes an obligation to diligently investigate the claim. *Id.* However, when the insurer responds to an insured's overture within 16 days and requests additional information which it is entitled to and acknowledges the insured's right to bring a claim when certain lawful conditions precedent are met, that duty is fulfilled. *Callioux, supra*. Additionally, the insurer is under no obligation to immediately and without pursuing its lawful remedies pay a default judgment obtained by the insured. *Phillips v. State Farm, supra*. Finally, the duty of good faith does not prevent the insurer from exercising its legal right to

have its obligations in a delicate situation determined via an action for declaratory relief. This Court made that point clear in *Western Casualty & Surety Co. v. Marchant*, 615 P.2d 423 (Utah 1980) wherein the Court held:

It would not comport with our ideas of either law or justice to prevent any party that entertains *bona fide* questions about his legal obligations from seeking adjudication thereon in the courts. (Citations omitted.)

Id. at 427, see also, *Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Call*, 712 P.2d 231, 237 (Utah 1985).

The insureds' reliance in their brief on Insurance Commission Rules to establish a breach of the duty of good faith is misplaced. (Brief of Appellant at page 10.) First, the statute under which the Insurance Commissioner is authorized to promulgate such rules specifically states that: "This section does not create any private cause of action." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-26-303(5) (1987). Had the Utah legislature intended to control the insurer's standard of conduct for purposes of an independent civil action based upon alleged bad faith it could have done so in clear terms, as have other states, rather than excluding the standard from giving rise to an independent civil action.⁸

⁸ For example, the Tennessee legislature enacted a statutory scheme to control insurer bad faith. See, *Squires v. Republic Ins. Co.*, 572 F.2d 560, 561-62 (6th Cir. 1978) (construing Tennessee bad

Second, the Insurance Commission Rules relied on by the insureds, Rule 540-89-10, 11 and 12, are each premised upon the insured first making a "claim." The Rules specifically define "claim" as a request for a demand for payment of benefits according to the terms of the insurance policy. See, Utah Insurance Regulations, R 540-89-4.B. In this case, as has already been set forth, no "claim" as defined by the Insurance Commission Rules was ever made.

Third, each of the rules relied upon by the insured set forth times within which the insurer must respond, "unless such investigation cannot reasonably be completed within such time." Utah Insurance Regulations, R 540-89-10, 11, and 12.⁹ Thus, the Rules require the same standard of care as does the case law: reasonable conduct.

faith law, T.C.A. § 56-1105(A).)

⁹ Liberty Mutual responded to the first letter from the insured's counsel 16 days after receipt of that letter. Giving the insured every benefit of the doubt, the Insurance Commission regulation required a response within 15 days, unless some other period was required. In light of the fact that the insureds presented no evidence that the tortfeasor was uninsured, and did not make a demand for payment, a 24 hour additional delay should not be considered to form the basis of a bad faith claim. With regard to Liberty Mutual's response to the submission of the Default Judgment, Liberty Mutual asserts that even if it was required to respond within 30 days, instead of approximately 60 days, under the circumstances because Liberty Mutual intended to deny the claim in any event, the 30 day delay caused no damages to the insured beyond accrued interest, which was ultimately paid.

In summary, in this case the insureds failed to establish a condition precedent to coverage and from that point forward Liberty Mutual was entitled to await further information which would satisfy the condition precedent before responding to the claim. In spite of that entitlement, Liberty Mutual promptly responded to the insureds' counsel, advised of the need for information, and acknowledged the insureds' right to present a claim when that additional information was provided. Thereafter, the insurer filed an action for declaratory relief seeking a judicial adjudication of the rights and obligations of the parties. Liberty Mutual's conduct was appropriate and did not constitute a breach of the duty of good faith.

B. Liberty Mutual Effectively Balanced Competing Concerns in this Case.

In an uninsured motorist claim context, the insurer has a delicate balance to maintain. On the one hand the insurer must continue to deal fairly and honestly with its insured, while on the other hand the insurer is entitled to analyze and assert all defenses that might be available to the uninsured motorist. See, *Hendren v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 672 P.2d 1137, 1140-41 (New Mex. App. 1983).¹⁰

¹⁰ The court stated: "We recognize that an insurer has a dual role with respect to uninsured motorist coverage. The hybrid nature of the role which an insurer who provides uninsured motorist coverage assumes has caused a fragmented body of case law to emerge

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